IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DUANE EDWIN SUTTON,	Case No. SC04-1954
KEITH NORWOOD SMITH,	Case No. SC04-1955
JOHN R. BEIKIRICH,	Case No. SC04-1956
EDWARD ALLEN SINGLETON,	Case No. SC04-1957
JERRY WADE RHOADES,	Case No. SC04-1958
GEORGE SAMUEL DEMARCO,	Case No. SC04-1959
Petitioners,	
V.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	/
v. STATE OF FLORIDA,	

On Petition for Discretionary Review of the Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

CONSOLIDATED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

Elliott C. Metcalfe, Jr. Public Defender Twelfth Judicial Circuit

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Each Defendant has been the subject of a petition for post-sentence civil commitment as a sexually violent predator pursuant to § 394.910-394.931 Florida Statutes. The State sought to take each Defendant's deposition and the trial court entered an order requiring him to respond to certain deposition questions. Sutton, R. 359-360; Smith, R. 104; Beikirich, R. 105; Singleton, R. 110; Rhoades, R. 103; Demarco, R. 107. Each Defendant filed a petition for writ of certiorari or writ of prohibition in the Second District Court of Appeal, asserting the right not to be compelled to be a witness against himself, and arguing that the order of the trial court compelling his deposition failed to afford him due process of law, equal protection of the laws, and violated his right to privacy. Sutton, R. 001; Smith, R. 001; Beikirich, R. 001; Singleton, R. 001; Rhoades, R. 001; Demarco, R. 001.

In <u>In re. Commitment of Smith v. State</u>, 827 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), the district court held that a respondent in a sexually violent predator commitment proceeding can not assert a blanket right of privacy or the right against self-incrimination to avoid being deposed. However in that case the district court remanded for a hearing on the proposed deposition questions. <u>See also In re Commitment of Sutton v. State</u>, 828 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); <u>In re Commitment of Beikirich v. State</u>, 828 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); <u>In re Commitment of Singleton v. State</u>, 829 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

Following the hearing on remand, in a consolidated opinion in In re

Commitment of Duane Edwin Sutton, Keith Norwood Smith, John R. Beikirich,

Edward Allen Singleton, Jerry Wade Rhoades, and George Samuel Demarco,

884 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), the district court held that the assertion of the right to privacy and the right against self-incrimination has no merit. Sutton,

R. 396; Smith, R. 487; Beikirich, R. 517; Singleton, R. 453; Rhoades, R. 453;

Demarco, R. 506. The Defendants' motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc, certification of conflict, and certification of question were denied by order of the district court entered 21 September 2004. The instant petition for discretionary conflict review followed.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this direct appeal pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because this case presents only pure questions of law, the standard of review is de novo. Moore v. State, 882 So. 2d 977, 980 (Fla. 2004); Martinez v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 863 So. 2d 1204, 1205 n.1 (Fla. 2003); Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The self-incrimination clauses of the federal and Florida constitutions provide that no person shall be compelled to be a witness against himself in a criminal case. Federal law provides that the right to avoid self-incrimination may not be circumvented by employing the stratagem of a civil proceeding resulting is the substantial equivalent of a criminal sanction. The right to avoid compulsory self-incrimination can be asserted in any proceeding, civil or criminal, administrative or judicial, investigatory or adjudicatory. It protects not only the compulsion of testimony that would itself be admissible in a criminal prosecution, but also the compulsion of testimony, whether or not itself admissible, that might aid in the development of other incriminating evidence that could be used at trial.

Florida courts have extended the same protection to a broad variety of sanctions that are not criminal. In Florida the right to avoid self-incrimination extends to civil and administrative proceedings that degrade an individual's professional standing, professional reputation, or livelihood. Actions against a professional license specifically afford the protection.

The complete long-term deprivation of liberty potentially resulting in this proceeding is inherently much more dire and onerous than an administrative action against a professional license and other clearly non-criminal proceedings where this Court has specifically applied the prohibition against self-incriminatio

Persons on probation, such as several of the Defendants herein, are explicitly extended the right to be free from self-incrimination. Further sanctions might be imposed upon such persons following a violation of probation.

Equal protection of the laws requires this Court to apply the same standards as apply to other civil commitment actions such as Baker Act proceedings. Strict scrutiny applies because of the potential loss of liberty inherent in this action.

The right to privacy guaranteed by the federal and Florida constitutions precludes much of the inquiry sought by the State. The right to privacy is a fundamental right that requires application of a compelling state interest standard which shifts the burden of proof to the state to justify an intrusion on privacy.

This court has recognized a broad privacy protection in persons' medical history and records. The State has neither made the requisite showing nor met the requisite burden to obtain the requested information.

The State seeks to ask many questions about each Defendant's innermost thoughts and attitudes. The State has already conducted two psychological evaluations of each Defendant in connection with this case. If the State's examining psychologists might have found this information useful, they had the opportunity to inquire. Otherwise this area of inquiry is nothing short an Orwellian "though police" interrogation inconsistent with anything that ought to happen in an American court.

ARGUMENT

I. Due Process of Law

The opinion below forces the Defendants to be witnesses against themselves in violation of rights guaranteed by the federal and Florida constitutions.

The self-incrimination clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S.

Constitution provides that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." The self-incrimination clause is applicable in state proceedings through the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 6 (1964). Likewise Article I, § 9, of the Florida

Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall ... be compelled in any criminal matter to be a witness against oneself". To require the Defendants to be deposed or to otherwise answer any inquiries would be offensive to the Defendants' constitutional protection from compulsory self-incrimination.

I A. The Right to Be Free from Self-incrimination <u>Is Not Circumscribed by Criminal Proceedings</u>

The United States Supreme Court has uniformly held that the right protected by the self-incrimination clause is the right to avoid criminal sanctions, and that right is to be broadly construed. See, e.g., Ullmann v. United States, 350 U.S. 422, 426-427 (1956). The concept of "criminal" has been interpreted by the Supreme

Court to include various proceedings which, while not criminal per se, may lead to loss of constitutionally protected freedoms. In <u>In re. Gault</u>, 387 U.S. 1, 27 (1967), the Supreme Court observed:

Ultimately, however, we confront the reality of that portion of the Juvenile Court process with which we deal in this case. A boy is charged with misconduct. The boy is committed to an institution where he may be restrained of liberty for years. It is of no constitutional consequence – and of limited practical meaning – that the institution to which he is committed is called an Industrial School. The fact of the matter is that, however euphemistic the title, a "receiving home" or an "industrial school" for juveniles is an institution of confinement in which the child is incarcerated for a greater or lesser time. His world becomes "a building with whitewashed walls, regimented routine and institutional hours". Instead of mother and father and sisters and brothers and friends and classmates, his world is peopled by guards, custodians, state employees, and "delinquents" confined with him for anything from waywardness to rape and homicide. [Footnotes omitted.]

Substitute the words "sexually violent predator" for the word "boy" and "treatment facility" for "industrial school", and the effect of the instant proceeding becomes indistinguishable from the juvenile proceedings examined in Gault.

In <u>Malloy v. Hogan</u>, 378 U.S. at 8, the Supreme Court recognized that the American system of criminal prosecution is accusatorial, not inquisitorial, and that the Fifth Amendment privilege is its essential mainstay. The Court held that the Fifth Amendment guarantees against infringement of "the right of a person to

remain silent unless he chooses to speak in the unfettered exercise of his own will, and to suffer no penalty... for such silence." In <u>Griffin v. California</u>, 380 U.S. 609, 614 (1965), the Supreme Court observed that the Fifth Amendment outlaws any penalty imposed for exercising a constitutional privilege.

I B. Federal Application of the Right

The U.S. Supreme Court has also clearly established that Fifth Amendment rights may not be circumvented by employing the stratagem of a civil proceeding in which the end result is the substantial equivalent of a criminal sanction. The Fifth Amendment privilege against compulsory self-incrimination "can be asserted in any proceeding, civil or criminal, administrative or judicial, investigatory or adjudicatory; and it protects against any disclosures which the witness reasonably believes could be used in a criminal prosecution or could lead to other evidence that might be so used." Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 444-445 (1972).

The self-incrimination clause of the Fifth Amendment protects against not only the compulsion of testimony that would itself be admissible in a criminal prosecution, but also the compulsion of testimony, whether or not itself admissible, that may aid in the development of other incriminating evidence that can be used at trial. See Kastigar at 445, Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486 (1951). The privilege is inapplicable only "if the testimony sought cannot

possibly be used as a basis for, or in aid of, a criminal prosecution against the witness." Brown v. Walker, 161 U.S. 591, 597 (1896). Florida courts follow the same rule. See Burnette v. Stanton, 751 So. 2d 728, 729 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); Magid v. Winter, 654 So. 2d 1037, 1039 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995).

In the context of the self-incrimination clause, "penalty" is not restricted to fine or imprisonment. It includes the imposition of any sanction which makes assertion of the Fifth Amendment privilege "costly." The threat of loss of professional standing, professional reputation, and of livelihood are powerful forms of compulsion, as powerful an instrument of compulsion as "the use of legal process to force from the lips of the accused individual the evidence necessary to convict him." Spevack v. Klein, 385 U.S. 511, 515-516 (1967), citing Griffin and United States v. White, 322 U.S. 694, 698 (1944).

I C. Florida Application of the Right

Long established Florida law provides a privilege against self-incrimination which applies to a variety of civil proceedings absent any "criminal" status in the orthodox sense. See State ex rel. Vining v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 281 So. 2d 487, 489 (Fla. 1973); Kozerowitz v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 289 So. 2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1974). In both cases, this Court specifically held that the right to remain silent applies not only to traditional criminal cases, but also to

proceedings which may result in suspension or revocation of a realtor's license and other proceedings which are "penal" in nature. Both cases involved proceedings by the Florida Real Estate Commission against the person's license to sell real property. The licensee was required by § 475.30(1) Florida Statutes to file a sworn answer to the complaint. Vining at 488, Kozerowitz at 392.

This Court held that

[i]n our judgment, logic and reason demand that the rationale of Spevack[v. Klein] be applied... to other types of administrative proceedings which may result in deprivation of livelihood.... In succinct terms, it is our view that the right to remain silent applies not only to the traditional criminal case, but also to proceedings "penal" in nature in that they tend to degrade the individual's professional standing, professional reputation or livelihood.

Vining at 491. The Court reasoned that

[t]he basic constitutional infirmity of the statute lies in requirement of a response under threat of license revocation or suspension, which amounts to compelling the defendant to be a witness against himself within the meaning of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, s 9 of the Florida Constitution.

<u>Vining</u> at 491-92. Therefore

¹ § 475.30(1) Florida Statutes (1973) provided in operative part that the "Defendant named in an information shall file with the commission a verified answer thereto...."

Since the burden of proving the defendant's guilt is the obligation of the State in any event, requiring the defendant to speak would amount to compelling the defendant to prove the State's case for it. This, of course, is the evil sought to be remedied by the Fifth Amendment right to silence.

<u>Vining</u> at 492. This Court concluded that

by requiring the defendant to answer, the [Real Estate] Commission is clearly seeking to shift to defendant the burden of proving his own guilt. As we have said, this result is constitutionally impermissible. Presumably, a legislative enactment allowing but not requiring a defendant to answer would not be constitutionally objectionable, but we are not confronted with such a provision here.

<u>Vining</u> at 492 (emphasis added). <u>See also Kozerowitz</u> at 392 (In <u>Vining</u> "we specifically held that Florida Statutes, Section 475.30(1), F.S.A., was unconstitutional to the extent that it required a defendant in a discipline proceeding before the Real Estate Commission to respond to the charges against him.")

Florida appellate courts have reached similar conclusions in cases involving licensure actions against a swimming pool contractor, see Best Pool & Spa Service Co., Inc., v. Romanik, 622 So. 2d 65, 66 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), and a harbor pilot, see McDonald v. Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Pilot Commissioners, 582 So. 2d 660, 662 (n. 2) (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

In both <u>Vining</u> and <u>Kozerowitz</u> this Court addressed proceedings of a "penal" character. <u>Vining</u> at 491; <u>Kozerowitz</u> at 392. A proceeding is penal if "the injury sought to be redressed affects the public. If the redress is remedial to an individual and the public is indirectly affected thereby, the statute is not regarded as solely and strictly penal in its nature." <u>State v. Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Company</u>, 47 So. 969, 980 (1908). There this Court held that a civil penalty imposed by administrative rule on a railroad for failure to promptly move a freight car <u>was</u> penal in nature. 47 So. at 980; <u>see also Vining</u> at 491.

Florida courts consider a broad variety of sanctions to be "penal" that are not also "criminal". In Department of Business and Professional Regulation v.

Calder Race Course, 724 So. 2d 100, 104 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), the court held that a statute regulating pari-mutual wagering should be deemed penal in its effect because its application could lead to the institution of administrative, civil or criminal actions. In Galbut v. City of Miami Beach, 605 So. 2d 466, 467 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), affirmed with opinion 626 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1993), the court held that § 112.317 Florida Statutes (1991), which allows penalties (including civil penalties of up to \$5,000 and removal from public office or employment, among other things) is penal in nature, even though the penalties are specifically civil rather than criminal.

In Florida when a statute imposes sanctions and penalties in the nature of denial of a professional license, suspension from professional practice, revocation of license to practice, probation, and private or public reprimand, the statute is penal in nature. State ex. rel. Jordan v. Pattishall, 126 So. 147 (Fla. 1930). In Vining this Court held that administrative proceedings that "tend to degrade the individual's professional standing, professional reputation, or livelihood" are penal in nature. 281 So. 2d at 491.

In Lester v. Department of Professional & Occupational Regulations,

348 So. 2d 923, 925 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), the court held that a statute permitting
denial of license or disciplining of a physician was penal in nature. The court
noted that the Medical Practice Act "is, in effect, a penal statute since it imposes
sanctions and penalties in the nature of denial of license, suspension from practice,
revocation of license to practice, private or public reprimand, or probation, upon
those found guilty of violating its proscriptions." The court reached that
conclusion even though the legislature stated that the statute was enacted in the
interest of the public welfare and was to be liberally construed so as to advance
that purpose (thus suggesting that the subject matter of the statute should be
construed as civil and not criminal). Id. See also Solloway v. Department of
Professional Regulation, 421 So. 2d 573, 574 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

Florida courts have applied similar analyses in licensure proceedings involving accountants², dentists³, architects⁴, public school teachers⁵, harbor pilots⁶, swimming pool contractors⁷, and law enforcement officers⁸, because such

² In <u>Buchman v. State Board of Accountancy</u>, 300 So. 2d 671, 673 (Fla. 1974), this Court considered a proceeding for revocation of a certificate to practice as a certified public accountant. Although there was no provision for a fine in the statute under consideration, the Court held that when an individual's livelihood was threatened by an administrative hearing, the statute is penal in nature.

³ State ex. rel. Jordan v. Pattishall involved a licensure matter before the Florida state board of dental examiners; see also Lurie v. Florida State Board of Dentistry, 288 So. 2d 223, 226 (Fla. 1973).

In <u>Florida State Board of Architecture v. Seymour</u>, 62 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1952), <u>overruled by Headley v. Baron</u>, 228 So. 2d 281, 287 (Fla. 1969), <u>reinstated by Lurie v. Florida State Board of Dentistry</u>, 288 So. 2d at 226, this Court considered a proceeding for revocation of a certificate to practice as an architect. The Court held that a "penalty generally has reference to punishment imposed for any offense against the law. It may be corporal or pecuniary.... It is accordingly our view that a proceeding to revoke appellee's certificate as an architect amounts to a prosecution to effect a penalty or forfeiture as contemplated by [§ 932.29, Florida Statutes (1941)]. The revocation of his certificate could be nothing short of a penalty or forfeiture...."

⁵ In <u>School Board of Pinellas County v. Noble</u>, 384 So. 2d 205, 206 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), the court considered the employment of a public school teacher. The court held that a statute is in effect a penal statute if it imposes sanctions, including suspension or dismissal of an employee when the employee is found guilty of violating the statute's proscriptions.

⁶ In <u>McDonald v. Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Pilot Commissioners</u> the court, citing to <u>Vining</u>, held that because license revocation or suspension proceedings are penal in nature, the Fifth Amendment right to remain silent applies.

⁷ In <u>Best Pool & Spa Service Co., Inc., v. Romanik</u> the court held that

proceedings are "penal" (and the constitutional right to be protected against compulsory self-incrimination applies) even though they are not in any way criminal and no incarceration was or could have been involved.

The penal nature of the regulatory statutes at issue in the above cases is insignificant compared to the penal nature of § 394.910 et seq. Florida Statutes. The filing of a petition for involuntary commitment results in incarceration in the Florida Civil Commitment Center. Once the State petitions to commit a person pursuant to § 394.914 Florida Statutes, he can not be afforded any form of pre-trial release. § 394.915(5) Florida Statutes. Once committed, he may be incarcerated indefinitely, potentially for life. §§ 394.918, 394.919, 394.920 Florida Statutes. Such incarceration is much more grave than a mere degradation of a person's professional standing, professional reputation, or livelihood. Therefore the due process provisions of Florida law directed at protection of the rights of civil

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