IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DUANE EDWIN SUTTON, KEITH NORWOOD SMITH, JOHN R. BEIKIRICH, EDWARD ALLEN SINGLETON, JERRY WADE RHODES, GEORGE SAMUEL DEMARCO,

Petitioners, Case No. SC04-1954 (Consolidated)

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CONSOLIDATED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD L. POLIN Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Miami Florida Bar No. 0230987

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

See Sutton, R. 0077-80.

After argument by counsel, the trial court overruled the Petitioner's objection to Question 12. The trial court stated that "we may get into things in the course of discovery that I'll decide at trial it's not appropriate, but for purposes of discovery I'll permit that." See Sutton, R. 0120. The trial court further permitted Questions 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17 but "excluded inquiry with regard to conversations had with mental health care professionals for purposes of diagnosis and treatment." See Sutton, R. 0127.

Prior treatment, or lack thereof, are relevant factors in assessing dangerousness. Moreover, as the district court pointed out below:

The petitioners have not offered any explanation regarding how these questions intrude into an area in which they have a legitimate expectation of privacy, nor have we been able to deduce one in light of the fact that section 394.921, Florida Statutes (2002), allows the disclosure of this type of information to, among others, the state attorney.

Sutton, 884 So.2d at 204.

Therefore, these questions are relevant to the civil

commitment process and the trial court correctly ruled them permissible in the confines of pre-trial civil discovery.

- IV E.(3) <u>Questions 5g 5i, re: Smith,</u>
 <u>Beikirich, Singleton, Rhoades,</u>
 <u>DeMarco</u>
- 5g. Since this civil case has been filed and you have been detained at the FCCC, have you been offered any kind of sex offender treatment?
- 5h. Since this civil case has been filed and you have been detained at the FCCC, have you received any kind of sex offender treatment.
- 5i. Since this civil case has been filed and you have been detained at the FCCC, have you refused any kind of sex offender treatment?

See Smith, R. 0088-0089; Beikirich, R. 0089-0090; Singleton, R.
0094-0095; Rhoades, R. 0085-0088; DeMarco, R. 0091-0092.

In ruling on Questions 5g and 5h, the trial court allowed the questions stating: ". . . the ruling on that would be the same as it would be with regard to the prison environment. It depends on how the offer was made." See Smith, R. 0163. As to Question 5i, the trial court ruled that it would depend upon the context in which the refusal was made and did not make a final ruling on that particular question. See Smith, r. 0165.

These questions are indisputably relevant to the civil commitment process. Remorse or acceptance of responsibility and prior treatment, or lack thereof, are relevant factors in assessing dangerousness. Indeed, the Petitioner's mental health

is the principal issue in this case. The State is entitled to know of any contrary or consistent diagnoses that may have been made in the past as well as any medication taken to treat those illnesses.

The State is entitled to discover this information and need not advise the Petitioners how it plans to use this information. The fact that some of this information may have been obtained by the State's experts in its prior evaluations does not render these questions improper. <u>See Romley</u>, supra.

IV F. <u>Question Group 6; Questions Regarding Sexually</u> Violent Predator Evaluations For Each Detainee

- IV F.(1) <u>Questions 6a 6d, re: Smith,</u>
 <u>Beikirich, Singleton, Rhoades,</u>
 DeMarco
- 6a. Do you recall being evaluated by psychologists, psychiatrist or other mental health experts in this case?
- 6b. What do you recall about the evaluations they performed on you (go through each separate evaluation)?
- 6c. Have you reviewed the reports generated by the psychologists, psychiatrist or other mental health experts in this case?
- 6d. Do you agree or disagree with their findings? Why?

See Smith, R. 0089-0091; Beikirich, R. 0090-0092; Singleton, R.
0095-0097; Rhoades, R. 0088-0090; DeMarco, R. 0092-0094.

The trial court overruled the objections as to Questions 6a

through 6d in this section. The trial judge stated: "I believe these are all standard types of questions that you can see in any type of medical malpractice or injury proceeding, and to see not what the experts think, but what the respondent themselves think." See Smith, R. 0167-0168.

IV F.(2) Questions 18-21, re: Sutton

- 18. Do you recall being evaluated by the two psychologist in this case?
- 19. What do you recall about the evaluations they performed on you?

See Sutton, R. 0080-0081.

After hearing argument from counsel, the trial court overruled Petitioner's objections to both Questions 18 and 19.

See Sutton, R. 0127-28. Respondent specifically argues that any objection to Question 18 has been effectively waived by Petitioner. When the trial judge made inquiry of Petitioner's counsel below regarding Question 18, the following response was given:

I'm not sure that that's relevant but I suppose that's the kind of a question that would be, assuming that it's relevant, might lead to something relevant. I can't see how it would.

I suppose counsel can ask that. It's pretty innocuous but, once again, what difference does it make?

After this statement by counsel, the trial judge rules: "Okay.

I'll permit that one." Petitioner has failed to preserve this issue for review. <u>See</u> Sutton, R. 0127.

- 20. Have you reviewed the reports generated by each doctor in this case.
- 21. Do you agree or disagree with their finding? Why?

See Sutton, R. 0080-81.

The trial court ruled that it would overrule the objections to Questions 20 and 21. <u>See</u> Sutton, R. 0130.

This area of inquiry does not seek to gain information that would be protected by either work product or attorney-client privilege. These questions are geared to determine if the Petitioners have understood the nature of their illness and accepted responsibility for their actions. These factors bear directly upon an individuals amenability to both treatment issues bearing on recidivism. Further, this area of inquiry does not require an expert opinion, quite the contrary. It is the personal perception of the Petitioners that is at issue, again with an eye to gauging their treatment goals and potential recidivism risk.

- 6e. When you met the psychologists, psychiatrist or other mental health experts, did you answer their

questions to the best of you ability? Are there any answers that you wish to change at this time? Are there any statements that you deny having made to them?

6f. What, if anything, has changed about your circumstances (mental and physical) since you met with the psychologists, psychiatrist or other mental health experts in this case?

See Smith, R. 0091-0092; Beikirich, R. 0092-0093; Singleton, R.
0097-0098; Rhoades, R. 0090-0091; DeMarco, R. 0094-0095.

Questions 6e and 6f were allowed by the trial court with the limitation that the Petitioners not be asked to divulge information conveyed to them by the mental health professional during the course of treatment. See Smith, R. 0171.

IV F.(4) Questions 22-23, re: Sutton

- 22. When you met with the doctors, did you answer their questions to the best of your ability? Are there any answers that you wish to change at this time?
- 23. What, if anything, has changed about your circumstances since you met with the doctors in this case?

See Sutton, R. 0082.

The court also overruled the objection to Question 22. <u>See</u> Sutton, R. 0131. As to Questions 23 and 24, the trial court allowed these questions to be answered but "prohibit[ed] inquiry into any communications made to a mental health care provider or to a physician or a chiropractor or osteopath for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment." <u>See</u> Sutton, R. 0133, 0136.

The State is not requesting the contents of conversations protected by attorney-client privilege or work product. The attorney-client privilege may be invoked as to any such conversations. The psychotherapist-patient privilege is waived pursuant to section 394.9155(3) and does not bar disclosure. The State is asking for the Petitioner's subjective impressions which are not protected by any privilege.

IV F.(5) <u>Question 6g, re: Smith, Beikirich, Singleton, Rhoades, DeMarco</u>

6g. Are you familiar with the following diagnoses that were given to you:

Explain what each diagnosis means to you. Do you agree or disagree with that diagnosis? Why or why not?

See Smith, R. 0092-0093; Beikirich, R. 0093-0094; Singleton, R.
0098-0099; Rhoades, R. 0091-0092; DeMarco, R. 0095-0096.

Once again, the trial court ruled that Question 6g was permissible; however, limited the scope of inquiry, prohibiting and inquiry that would require Petitioners to divulge information conveyed to them, or by them, during the course of treatment. See Smith, R. 0171. Again, Petitioner's argument that a lay person could not answer this question is disingenuous. The question specifically seeks the subjective perspective of the Petitioners regarding these matters, no expertise is required to answer this type of question as is

clearly within the knowledge of the Petitioners.

As a practical matter in preparing its case, the State is entitled to know if the Petitioner has reconsidered some of his answers or recalled other information not disclosed at the evaluations, so as to avoid trial by ambush.

IV F.(6) <u>Questions 24, 26, 28, re: Sutton</u>

Respondents argue that Questions 26 and 28 are not properly before this Court for review. Both Question 26 and 28 were withdrawn by the state attorney. As such, Questions 26 and 28 are moot. See Sutton, R. 0082-84, 0136.

As stated below, Question 24, read as follows:

24. Are you familiar with the diagnosis of Pedophilia given to you? If so, explain what that means to you. Do you agree with that diagnosis? Why? or why not?

See Sutton, R. 0082.

The information sought here is typical of the sort of discovery that regularly occurs in civil practice. The State is entitled to inquire into the Petitioner's impressions of the mental health evaluations conducted in connection with the sexually violent predator proceeding and the diagnoses given as a result of those evaluations.

IV F.(7) <u>Question 6h, re: Smith, Beikirich, Singleton, Rhoades, DeMarco</u>

6h. Have you been addicted to alcohol or drugs?

Have you ever had a problem functioning normally because you were under the influence of any kind of intoxicating substances, including but not limited to drugs or alcohol? If so, please describe the problems you had.

See Smith, R. 0093; Beikirich, R. 0094; Singleton, R. 0099;
Rhoades, R. 0092; DeMarco, R. 0096.

The trial court further overruled Petitioners' objections to Question 6h, placing the same limitation upon the state, that any inquires could not cause Petitioners to divulge communications between themselves any mental health care provider, physician, chiropractor or osteopath for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment. See Smith, R. 0171.

IV F.(8) Question 27, re: Sutton

27. Have you ever had a problem functioning normally because you were under the influence of any kind of intoxicating substances, including but not limited to drugs and alcohol? If so, please discuss the problem you had.

See Sutton, R. 0084.

The trial court allowed Question 27 and stated that "it may be that the Court will decide to narrow the inquiry some for purposes of trial but this is a discovery deposition and I think that leads to the discovery of evidence of some probative value." See Sutton, R. 0136-38.

With respect to the Petitioner's claim of psychotherapistpatient privilege, the state reiterates its prior argument. See §394.9155(3), Fla. Stat.

IV F.(9) <u>Question 6i, re: Smith, Beikirich, Singleton, Rhoades, DeMarco</u>

6i. Do you have trouble controlling your temper sometimes? If so, please describe why and what happens when you loose your temper. What steps, if any, have you taken to control your temper?

See Smith, R. 0094; Beikirich, R. 0095; Singleton, R. 0100;
Rhoades, R. 0093; DeMarco, R. 0096-97.

Placing the limitation upon the state that no inquiry could be made of Petitioners that would lead to them divulging communications between themselves any mental health care provider, physician, chiropractor or osteopath for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment, the trial court permitted this inquiry. See Smith, R. 0171.

Once again, the district court found no merit in Petitioners' argument, finding that "any right these petitioners may have to keep their thoughts private is likewise outweighed by the State's interest in obtaining" this information. *Sutton*, 884 So.2d 205.

IV F.(10) Question 29, re: Sutton

29. Do you have trouble controlling your temper sometimes? If so, please describe why and what happens when you loose your temper. What steps, if any, have you taken to control your temper? Have you ever touched or struck anyone out of anger? If so, please describe the nature of that contact and the circumstances surrounding it.

See Sutton, R. 0085.

As to Question 29, the trial court permitted inquiry into the initial portion of the question including the portion that asks what steps have you taken to control your temper and sustained objections to the last two portions of the question.

- IV F.(11) Questions 6j 6m, re:
 Smith, Beikirich,
 Singleton, Rhoades,
 DeMarco
- 6j. Do you have sexual fantasies about pre-pubescent children? If so, describe them.
- 6k. Are you sexually attracted to pre-pubescent children?
- 61. Do you have sexual fantasies that involve violence of any kind?
- 6m. Do you have now or have you ever had difficulty controlling your sexual urges.

See Smith, R. 0094-0096; Beikirich, R. 0095-0097; Singleton, R.
0100-0102; Rhoades, R. 0093-0095; DeMarco, R. 0097-0099.

The trial court overruled Petitioners' objections to Questions 6j, 6k, 6l and 6m with the aforementioned limitations. See Smith, R. 0171.

The information sought here is typical of the sort of

discovery that occurs in civil litigation practice. The State is entitled to inquire into the Petitioners' impressions of the mental health evaluations conducted in connection with the sexually violent predator proceeding and the diagnoses given as a result of those evaluations. Likewise, the state is entitled to know if the Petitioner has reconsidered answers previously given or recalled other information not initially disclosed at the evaluations, as to avoid trial by ambush.

Significantly, the state is not requesting the contents of conversations protected by attorney-client privilege or work product. The attorney-client privilege may be invoked as to any such conversations. The psychotherapist-patient privilege is waived pursuant to section 394.9155(3) and does not bar disclosure in the context of a civil commitment proceeding under the Ryce Act. The State is asking for the Petitioners' subjective impressions, these are simply not protected by any privilege.

As to the disclosure of the use of any illegal substances, it is the position of Respondent that any such information could not be used in a subsequent criminal proceeding. See Beverly, supra; Smith, supra. Therefore, the Petitioners' Fifth Amendment objections are not a bar to disclosure of this information.

The State is entitled to know of types of situations that anger or enrage Petitioners, especially to the point where they act out in a physically or sexually inappropriate way. This information identifies the types of events that trigger his violent behavior and are relevant to the issues in the commitment action.

To the extent such questions elicit incriminating responses regarding uncharged criminal acts, such information can not be used in a criminal proceeding. See Beverly, supra; Smith, supra. As previously stated, the Fifth Amendment does not apply to sexually violent predator civil commitment proceedings, and Petitioners cannot refuse to answer questions on this basis. Beverly, supra; Allen, supra; Smith, supra.

With respect to the Petitioners' claim of psychotherapistpatient privilege, Respondent reiterates its prior argument. <u>See</u> §394.9155(3), Fla. Stat.

The information sought here is typical of the sort of discovery that occurs in civil litigation practice. The State is entitled to inquire into Petitioners' impressions of the mental health evaluations conducted in connection with the sexually violent predator proceeding and the diagnoses given as a result of those evaluations. Likewise, the state is entitled to know if the Petitioner has reconsidered some of his initial

answers or recalled other information not previously disclosed at the evaluations. Trial by ambush is a distant history and should remain so.

The State is not requesting the contents of conversations protected by attorney-client privilege or work product. The attorney-client privilege may be invoked as to any such conversations. The psychotherapist-patient privilege is waived pursuant to section 394.9155(3) and does not bar disclosure. The state is asking only for the Petitioners' subjective impressions which are not protected by any privilege.

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